ORIGINAL
THE UNITED ST

# THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

AMENDED COMPLAINT			3 P35	Ö
Defendants.	) 5	ST COU	爱-3	
JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC. and JOHNSON CONTROLS INTERIORS LLC,	) JORT TRIAL DEI )		Si Si	71
JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC. and	) ) JURY TRIAL DEN	M A NITYET		
v.	) Hon. Paul D. Born	ıan		
Plaintiffs,	) Case No. 04-CV-7.	3461		
LEAR AUTOMOTIVE DEARBORN, INC and LEAR CORPORATION,	C.)			

Plaintiffs, Lear Automotive Dearborn, Inc. and Lear Corporation (collectively "Lear"), complain of Defendants, Johnson Controls, Inc. and Johnson Controls Interiors LLC (collectively, "Johnson"), as follows:

# Introductory Statement

1. This is a claim for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the United States, Title 35 of the United States Code. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a).

## The Parties

2. Lear Automotive Dearborn, Inc., a Delaware corporation having its principal place of business at 5200 Auto Club Drive, Dearborn, Michigan 48126, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Lear Corporation. Lear Corporation is also a Delaware corporation having its principal place of business at 21557 Telegraph Road, Southfield, MI 48086.

- 3. Johnson Controls, Inc. is a Wisconsin corporation with its headquarters at 5757 North Greenbay Avenue, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201.
- 4. Johnson Controls Interiors LLC is a Michigan limited liability company with its headquarters at One Prince Center, Holland Michigan 49423.
- 5. Johnson has transacted business in this judicial district by selling, offering to sell, making, using, and/or importing automotive products into this judicial district that are covered by the patents at issue in this lawsuit or by inducing others to infringe or contributing to the infringement by others and by conducting other business in this judicial district.
- 6. Venue is, therefore, proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1400 (b).

#### **Background of the Patented Inventions**

- 7. Lear and Lear Automotive are first tier suppliers to original equipment automotive manufacturers. Lear and Lear Automotive design, manufacture, and market electronic systems and sub-systems that automotive manufacturers incorporate into their production automobiles.
- 8. In recent years, automotive manufacturers have desired to offer vehicles, including vehicle keyfobs, with electronic systems that allow for remote entry to the vehicle and to garages. Such devices also may allow for remote activation of home alarm systems and home lighting. Traditional systems have employed a transceiver (a transmitter and a receiver) that can be programmed to activate radio frequency (RF) devices such as garage door openers. Such systems typically send a RF signal from a number of available signals. The RF signal is recognized by a receiver which then actuates the device.

- 9. Such traditional remote control systems, however, are subject to potential security breaches. Criminals may monitor and record the transmitted signal. Even scrambling the signal may not solve the security problem because the scrambled signal still can be intercepted by the criminal. An additional problem with traditional garage door transmitters is that they are not capable of sending encrypted RF signals that are recognized by traditional home security systems.
- 10. Plaintiff Lear is the owner of pioneering patented inventions that have overcome the above-described problems with traditional remote control systems. For example, Lear is the owner of United States Patent no. 5,731,756 (the '756 patent), which claims an invention for a "Universal Encrypted Radio Transmitter For Multiple Functions." The claims cover, among other things, novel methods for allowing a user to actuate various home security systems (such as garage door openers, home alarm systems, home lighting systems, etc.) remotely with a universal control device. The '756 patent issued on March 24, 1998. It is valid and enforceable.
- 11. Lear also is the owner of United States Patent no. RE 36,181 (the '181 patent), which claims an invention for "Pseudorandom Number Generation and Cryptographic Authentication." The claims cover, among other things, novel methods of cryptographic authentication of RF transmissions from a transmitting unit to a receiving module. Such invention significantly improves the security of remote control systems. The '181 patent issued on April 6, 1999. The '181 patent is a reissue of United States Patent no. 5,363,448 that issued on November 8, 1994. The '181 patent is valid and enforceable.
- 12. Lear also is the owner of United States Patent no. RE 36,752 (the '752 patent), which claims an invention for "Cryptographic Authentication of Transmitted Messages Using

Pseudorandum Numbers." This invention covers, among other things, novel methods for improved security in remote control systems. The '752 patent issued on June 27, 2000. The '752 patent is a reissue of United States patent 5,377,270 that issued on December 27, 1994. The '752 patent is valid and enforceable.

13. Lear has exclusively licensed the '756 patent, the '181 patent, and the '752 patent to Lear Automotive. Lear and Lear Automotive together have standing to sue for infringement of the '756 patent, the '181 patent, and the '752 patent [hereinafter "the patents in suit"].

#### Johnson Willfully Infringes The Patents In Suit

14. Johnson competes with Lear and Lear Automotive. In recent years, Johnson has marketed a remote control system under the trade name HomeLink®. Johnson typically sells its HomeLink® system for use in automobiles. According to Johnson's internet website:

HomeLink is an integrated transceiver (a transmitter and receiver) that can be programmed to activate radio frequency (RF) devices such as garage doors, estate/community gates, entry door locks, home/office lighting, or other RF devices. ... Through a simple training process, HomeLink duplicates the codes of the original transmitter. As a result of our relationships within the Access Control Industry, HomeLink is also capable of learning rolling (encrypted) codes.

15. Unfortunately, Johnson's HomeLink® system infringes one or more of the claims set forth in the patents in suit. By way of example, and not as an exhaustive list, Johnson's HomeLink® system infringes claims 1 through 13 of the '756 patent, claims 23, 24, 71, and 72 of the '181 patent, and claims 53 and 59 of the '752 patent. By its manufacture, use, sale, importation and/or offer for sale of HomeLink® systems, Johnson infringes the patents in suit and/or contributes to and induces the infringement of others in violation of 35 U.S.C. 271(a) -(c).

- system infringed the patents in suit. Lear asked Johnson to cease and desist from infringing Lear's patents. When Johnson refused to cease and desist, Lear sued Johnson for patent infringement on January 26, 2004 in the United States District Court For The Eastern District of Michigan. Lear's lawsuit was styled Lear v. Johnson, Civil Action No. 04-70279. Shortly thereafter, Johnson contacted Lear and requested that Lear voluntarily dismiss its lawsuit so that the parties could resolve their differences amicably. Lear agreed to do so and, on May 27, 2004, voluntarily dismissed its lawsuit without prejudice pursuant to Rule 41, Federal Rules of Civil Procedure..
- 17. Thereafter, Johnson failed to establish that its HomeLink® system did not infringe the patents in suit, failed to cease its infringing conduct, failed to license the patents in suit, and failed to offer compensation satisfactory to Lear. Accordingly, Lear was forced to refile this lawsuit. As of the re-filing of this lawsuit, Johnson continues to willfully infringe the patents in suit.

# Johnson's Infringement Generates Market Power and Monopoly Profits

18. By infringing the patents in suit, Johnson has established itself as the dominant player in the market for remote control systems installed in automobiles. The HomeLink® system, which uses one or more of the methods claimed by the patents in suit, is a powerful brand name that has allowed Johnson to enjoy monopoly profits in the market for automotive remote control systems. Also by infringing the patents in suit, Johnson has acquired market power sufficient to lock up companies in the "Access Control Industry" (see Johnson's internet website statement, supra. at Para. 13) with long term exclusive contracts. For example, Lear is

informed and believes that Johnson entered into a long term exclusive contract with The Chamberlain Group, the world's largest manufacturer of garage door openers.

- 19. When Lear attempted to develop and market a remote control system that would compete with Johnson's HomeLink® system, Lear approached The Chamberlain Group with a proposal to license The Chamberlain Group's software and algorithms for garage door openers. The Chamberlain Group, however, completely rebuffed Lear. In refusing to deal with Lear, The Chamberlain Group cited its exclusive contract with Johnson.
- 20. As a result of Johnson's infringement of the patents in suit and its anticompetitive activities, as well as its corresponding ability to lock up the market for remote security systems with its infringing HomeLink® system, Johnson has materially interfered with Lear's and Lear Automotive's efforts to compete with Johnson and has wrongfully enjoyed market power. The economic effect on Lear and Lear Automotive of Johnson's infringement is ongoing, difficult to quantify, and irreparable.
- 20. Unless enjoined from infringing Lear's patents in suit, Johnson will continue to irreparably harm Lear and Lear Automotive.

## Prayer For Relief

WHEREFORE, Lear and Lear Automotive pray that this Court enter judgment against Johnson and grant the following relief:

- a) declare pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 2201 that the patents in suit are valid and enforceable and that Johnson infringes the patents in suit in violation of 35 U.S.C. 271;
- b) permanently enjoin Johnson from infringing the patents in suit pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 283;

- c) award Lear and Lear Automotive damages (including, but not limited to, the profits obtained by Johnson by reason of its infringement of the patents in suit and prejudgment interest from the date of first infringement) proximately caused by Johnson's infringement of the patents in suit pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 284;
- d) award Lear and Lear Automotive enhanced damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 284 and attorneys fees pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 285 upon a finding that Johnson's infringement of the patents in suit was willful and that this case is exceptional; and
- e) award Lear and Lear Automotive such additional relief, including recoverable costs, as allowed by law and as deemed necessary by this Court.

David M. Hayes (P14764)

Edward J. Hood (P42953) CLARK HILL PLC

500 Woodward Avenue

Suite 3500

Detroit, MI 48226-3485

(313) 965-8300

(313) 962-8252 (fax)

Timothy J. Haller, (3125265)

Paul K. Vickrey

Robert P. Greenspoon, (6229357)

Frederick C. Laney

NIRO, SCAVONE, HALLER & NIRO

181 West Madison, Suite 4500

Chicago, 1L 60602

(312) 236-0733

(312) 236-3137 - fax

Attorneys for Lear Corporation and Lear Automotive Dearborn, Inc.